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and Baltic, with a south eastern shift towards Frankish
territory from the middle of the 6th century (Evison,
1984 p5, p64). Even given different estimates of the size
and density of Seal Wudu (Selwood) in recent studies
(Stenton 1971), in comparison to earlier assumptions
(Ordnance Survey 1935), Wansdyke clearly dominated
one of the few land access points between the British and
Anglo Saxon cultural zones in the late 6th/early 7th cen-
turies. Nevertheless it should not be assumed that the dyke
represented a sealed frontier which allowed no social inter-
course. Germanic artefacts occur as scrap, associated with
metalworking, at “Cad-Cong” (Arnold 1984 p118). The
“pre Saxon indigenous hand made pottery”, found at
Pagans Hill and ‘“‘Cad-Cong”, is reminiscent of hand made
pottery associated with Anglo Saxon sites further to the
east (Evison, iges, Hurst, 1984, p98-99). As with the

REFERENCES

Alcock, L, 1971 Arthur’s Britain (Harmondsworth).

Arnold, C, 1984 Roman Britain To Saxon England (Beck-
enham).
1988 An Archaeology Of The Early Anglo Saxon
Kingdoms (Beckenham).

Aston, M and lles, R, 1987 The Archaeology Of Avon

(Bristol).

Bonney, D, 1972, “Early Boundaries in Wessex”, in
Fowler, P, (ed) Archaeology And The Landscape
(London)

Burrow, I, 1979, “Roman Material From Hillforts”, in
Casey, P, (ed), The End Of Roman Britain, BAR
71 (Oxford).

Costen, M, 1983, Stantonbury and District in the tenth
century, Bristol Avon Archaeology 2, 25-34

Evison, V, 1974, Medieval Pottery From Excavations
(London)

Hodges, H,

Hurst, J,

_.son, V, 1984, Wheel Thrown Pottery In Anglo Saxon
Graves (Chichester)

WHITTOCK: WEST WANSDYKE 5

identified pagan Anglo Saxon pottery, at Camerton and
Evercreech, this may be as indicative of trade as of immi-
gration. In time such a process of infusion acccelerated
and made redundant all controlling, or monitoring, func-
tions of the dyke.

Areas of Possible Future Study:

1) Fieldwork designed to test the hypothesis of post
Roman occupation at Maes Knoll and Stantonbury.

2) Field walking, on both sides of Wansdyke, to check
incidence of late - post Roman rural occupation and dis-
ruption caused by the dyke’s construction.

3) Reconsideration of common cultural features exhibited
on post Roman sites south of Wansdyke and isolation
of those features which show signs of intrusion from
another culture zone.
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The first type of gap is where the bank has been
virtually levelled by ploughing and the ditch infilled. Even
when ~ happened a century or more ago there are often
good records (eg early OS maps and antiquarians’ notes)
of its line and it may be visible on air photos. Secondly
there are two or three long gaps for which there is no
known record and where it may never have existed.

The main gaps where there is no record of the Dyke
are over Publow Hill and east of Englishcombe village.
The Foxs (and subsequent writers) thought these gaps
were deliberately left by the builders of the Dyke because
these areas are likely to have been heavily wooded as they
are on heavy lias clays. But there are other clear sections
of the Wansdyke constructed on similar soils. It may also
be that the Dyke was never completed. However it does
seem to be a reasonable possibility that there was some
regeneration of woodland in the post-Roman centuries,
although previous estimates of this are probably exaggera-
ted.

Research into these two gaps should first be directed
towards elucidating the landscape history of both areas.
For instance Publow Hill appears to have had the remains
of medieval strip fields, the layout of which are still visible
on the 1839 tithe map and then still in use as arable. If
this area has been cultivated for hundreds of years is there
much hope of finding anything other than a buried ditch?
More work is currently being done on this area’s landscape
history for a parish survey.

Aerial reconnaissance just east of Publow Hill in 1987
did reveal a possible ploughed out bank and ditch as a soil
mark at ST638649(SMR AP ref ST6364/1,2). However on
analogy with other sections, if it did exist here, it might
be expected that its course was further north possibly
near the east-west road overlooking Wooscombe Bottom.
Although the course of the Dyke is not always well placed
it is not normally overlooked by higher ground at such close
range as it would be in the case of this soil mark.

A rapid st of the parish of Englishcombe (Stacey
and Iles 1983) provided some clues as to the good preserva-
tion of the Dyke to the west of the village even if it did not
explain its disappearance east of the 1™ ge. There was a
hunting park to the west of the village in the medieval
period. The area to the east of the village as far as Breach
Wood is likely to have been part of one of the two open
fields and so was used as arable. However all the field names
here are prefixed Breach- just like the adjacent wood. The
name breach is usually thought to be an area of wood
cleared in the medieval period and possibly represents new
land associated with outfield exploitation (Aston 1988,
97). East of Breach Wood Wansdyke is once again very clear
adjacent to the earthworks of a deserted medieval settle-
ment.

There is no record of the course of the Dyke through
Englishcombe village. It seems a reasonable possibility
that it followed the main street east of the church (Fig 2).
This street is in fact a hollow-way and so it could be Wans-
dyke ditch; fieldwork and tithe maps show that several
sections of the ditch have been used as trackways. On
the south side of Englishcombe street there are traces of
a bank and a section through it is described above.

Another gap in the course of Wansdyke deserving of
some attention is in Newton St Loe parish between Park
Farm and Pennsylvannia Farm. The western part of this
section has t=~= traced as a slight scarp and on air photos
(Fox 1958). _..e eastern part is marked as a broken line
on OS maps but its course is not immediately obvious on
the ground. Id¢ ™ this area should be looked at in some
detail and its lanascape history researched. Another line
of research which may be of value in tracing lost sections
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of the Wansdyke is the various forms of geophysical pros-
pecting now available. Certainly all of these methods should
be tried before random excavation trenches are contem-
plated.

« v vl ARCHAEOLOGICAL Ko..ARCH

In the preceding sections I have suggested a number of
possible research topics and made reference to other
research papers which have outlined other possibilities.
I would also propose that future work should be broadly-
based not only geographically but conceptually as well.
By and large most of the suggestions have not involved
excavation, which should be a last resort. However there
are certain questions, such as those outlined below, which
ultimately will have to be tested by excavation:

1. Date of Wansdyke

This is the most fundamental issue because if sufficiently
closely datable material is recovered it may be possible
to propose a context/s for its construction. The chances
of obtaining good stratified and datable artefacts or scienti-
fically testable samples are remote but it is not unrealistic
to look for them as part of an overall research design which
would embrace the following questions and others as well.

2. Construction of the Wansdyke

The ‘what did it look like’ and ‘how was it built’ are the
sorts of questions excavation is most likely to provide
answers for and these are things about which there is very
little information at the moment. It would also be useful
if there is any evidence for more than one phase of con-
struction as suggested for a section recorded at Odd Down.
Ideally cross-sections and longitudinal sections should be

:cavated at several different places along its route.

3. Relationships with other archaeological features

The most significant relationships to be sorted out by
excavations are the junctions with the hillforts on Maes
Knoll and Stantonbury Hill. In the long term the interior
of the hillforts ought to be examined for evidence of re-
occupation; however this would require large-scale excava-
tions and could not be contemplated until the excavations
at Cadbury Congresbury and South Cadbury are published.
It may also be justifiable to examine the relationship
with other features such as the small ‘fields’ south of
Newton Park. Peter Fowler considered they were earlier
but ploughing has since blurred the junction at ground
level.

4. Wansdyke Gaps

It may be justifiable to test by excavation postulated
sections of the Wansdyke (but see above). It would be
interesting to know if the rounded terminals of the Dyke,
where it stops short of streams, were treated in any special
way.

5. Environment of the Wansdyke

Any excavation _ ject should include a programme to
take samples for palaeo-environmental analysis. Buried
soils have already been recognised beneath the bank
sections. The lower parts of the ditch may also hold en-
viro :ntal data.

It is inevitable that an excavation programme will
have to examine sections of the Dyke which are scheduled.
Indeed it will be necessary to excavate some of the best
preserved sections to have any hope of obtaining worth-
while information. However these excavation proposals,
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most of which are of a limited nature, are justifiable not

y as part of archaeological research into the post-
Koman centuries but just as importantly for the inter-
pretation of the Wansdyke to non-archaeologists.

CONSERVATION

If there is to be scope for research along the length of the
Dyke in future years it is essential that the degradation
of recent decades is halted. There have been certain land-
owners, like the Duchy of Cornwall, who have readily
agreed to build into their land management practices
the conservation of the Dyke. The Wansdyke Project,
described above, has helped to create some understanding
and goodwill amongst other landowners. However that
interest needs to be fostered for the long term before it is
dissipated.

Proposals for the management and (equally impor-
tant) interpretation of the Wansdyke have = :ady been put
forward elsewhere (Iles 1988). A small start nas been made
with the prepar = 1 of a popular publication for the
District Council named after the Wansdyke (Iles & Whit-
tock forthcoming). It still remains to be seen whether
much of this mysterious feature, a silent monument to a
rather shadowy period in our past, survives into the next
century.
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D~~R PArKS A:1 SU110N
AND WEST CHeLWOGwv

R.G.J. Williams

The prominence of deer parks in the medieval landscape
was discussed by Rob Iles (1987. pp.117-121) who thought
that there were probably over f y of these manorial fea-
tures in Avon. He had been able to identify many of these
(Iles, 1978) but thought that there was scope for further
research. When examining four deer parks in the north of
the county Iles and Lay (1979) demonstrated that the
boundaries could often still be seen in the landscape as
sizable banks occasionally surmounted by a wall and often
with an internal ditch. The present writer has been able to
trace the boundaries of two more deer parks in south Avon
where rights of ‘lugfall’ were significant.

SUTTON PARK (ST 6060)

This park of over 200 acres in the parish of Stowey Sutton
is on high ground overlooking Sutton Court and the Chew
Valley. It is dominated by Round Hill (145m) and the
escarpment of South Hill (189m) with several intervening
steep-sided valleys. (see Fig. 1). It belonged to the manor
of Knighton Sutton and although there would not appear
to be any medieval references to a deer park the Strachey
papers in the Somerset Record Office (DD/SH,c/1165
provide evidence of disemparkment by the early 17th
century. A lease dated 1632 (DD/SH, 14) is of Sutton
Court and ‘Sutton Parke of about 200 acres of late divided
into divers p(a)rceles with all the lyberties, priviledges and
profitts of Parke and Free Warren’.In a letter written by
John Strachey in 1742 concerning a local boundary dispute
he cites the same lease of 1632 as an authority for rights
of ‘lugfall’ on the boundary of Sutton Park, as follows:-
It was always the practice when any person enclosed
a park to set the Pale or Wall 18 feet, whichisa
Woodland Lugg, within the outside of their land;
because they would not trespass on another Lord’s
land; but leave room to come with carts, timber etc
to repair the Bounds of their Park. This was called
Lugfall, and there was such a one at Sutton Park
is plain from a lease. (Strachey then identifies the
lease of 1632 which does not specifically mention lugfall
but provides rights of access to main the park pale).
These rights figure prominently in another boundary
dispute of 1787 when depositions from local people con-
firm lugfall at Sutton Park giving measurements of 16, 18
and 20 feet and another more precisely as 16% feet, one
inch and a barleycorn. Another deponant speaks of lugfall
called Mr Strachey’s Deer Leap belonging to t Liberty
of Round Hill and of sawyers measuring out the distance
of 20 feet with a long rod. Lugfall at other parks in the
area are recorded in the depositions as Chelworth Park -
16% feet; Chew Park - 18 feet and at Compton Martin -
18 feet. The bounds of the latter park are shown on Ord-
nance Survey plans as narrow strips of woodland which
are named as Lugfall.

In the Strachey papers there are a number of 19th
century references to the sale of ‘lugs of timber’ which
could just mean branches of trees but perhaps of a certain
length; a lug usually being 16%: feet otherwise a rod, pole
or perch. It could also be a measurement of area that is
a square lug as suggested by Rackham (1988) but this
would only apply to the sale of standing timber. Lug-
fall seems to be a local word and in a Somerset law case
(Scott, 1863) it was claimed as a right to enter onto a
part or strip of land.

A part of what is now called Folly Wood was named
as Lodge Wood on an estate map of 1793(DD/SH.c/1165)
suggesting that there had previously been a hunting lodge
in this area. Almost the complete boundary of the former
park is defined as lugfall on an estate map of 1832 (DD/
SH.c/1165) and there are still lengths of strip woodland
surviving. The park pale can also still be seen in many places
as a sizable bank which is sometimes surmounted by a
wall and the internal ditch can be traced almost all round
the perimeter.

Just outside the park and in the neighbouring parish
of Stanton Drew is a series of long banks of narrow strip
fields and in his letter of 1742 John Strachey remarked
that this area was formerly open field which had only
been enclosed circa 1700. On the western slopes of Round
Hill at ST 604608 remnants of similar strip fields can be
seen suggesting that the park, or at least this part, had
been utilised for open field cultivation in the (early?)
medieval period. This suggests a later date for the foun-
dation of the deer park.

VonoT . ELWOOD P/...£ (ST 6261)

This park of about 300 acres belonged to the manor of
West Chelwood and lies on land to the south west of
Chelwood House rising to 180 metres above sea level at
Red Hill. (Fig.1). The two manors in Chelwood called
Cheleworde and Cellewert in the Domesday Book of 1086
were later known as East and West Chelworth otherwise
Chelwood. In 1285 when John Tregoz held both manors
he was granted rights of Free Warren by Edward 1 (Cal.
Pat. Rolls) but this was originally only an authority to hunt
small game such as rabbits, hares and foxes. There is no re-
cord of a Royal Grant to enclose a deer park at Chelwood
but as pointed out by Iles (1978, p.118) only a handful
of the many deer parks in Avon appear to have been
granted such rights. Iles was of the opinion that manorial
Lords probably thought that they could make a new park
if they had already obtained rights of Free Warren. There
1s evidence of a warren, park and other manorial features
near Huntstrete House belonging to the Lords of East
Chelwood. (ASMR. 3988, 4288 and 5856).












at the condition of the north-south “girders” supporting
the upper floor which had rotted off at their southern
ends due to the dampness of the retaining wall in which
they were embedded and *»~d been t rrarily “supported
by shores under them”. ...e roof timbers were described
as ‘‘very crooked and defective” although most were con-
sidered capable of reuse. In view of the inherent damp-
ness of the southern retaining wall “occasioned by the earth
lying against it”, it was strongly recommended that re-
building of the poorhouse, if decided upon, should take
place on a different site.

In the light of this report the Overseers were forced
to conclude that “to repair the Poor Houses in their present
ruinous state is highly improper and would be a waste of
the Parish Money” (Poor Order Book, Bristol Record
Office). It was not however until 16 August 1802 that the
Overseers authorised the building of an entirely new Poor
House on a previously unoccupied hilltop site in Eastfield
Road, 180 m south of the Church (Nat. Grid ref. ST
57377723). This large and conspicuous rectangular build-
ing, now divided into two private houses, was opened
on 17 August 1804 and remained in use until reorganisa-
tion following the reform of the Poor Laws led to its clo-
sure in December 1838 (Moss 1967, 162, 170).

At this point we may conveniently retrace our steps
to consider more closelv the topography of the Westbury
almshouses. We have s that between c.1466 and 1544
there were two almshouses in the village, for six men and
six women respectively. The women’s house lay “next to
the Collegiate Church” while the men’s house stood “oppo-
site the gateway of the College”. (The gate thus referred
to was either the surviving gate-tower of the main College
building or (perhaps more likely) an otherwise unrecorded
opening in the college precinct wall; a possible location for
the latter, on the north side of Church Road midway be-
tween College and Church, is indicated in fig. 1A). We have
also seen evidence for the existence during the 17th and
18th centuries of two poor houses, described by Atkyns
in 1712 as the “Almshouse” and “Church House” and
situated according to the late 18  century Overseer’s
records on the north and west sides of the churchyard.
Despite a possible dis  tinuity of use during the later
16th century it would seem reasonable to equate these
post-reformation poor houses with the two pre-reformation
almshouses.

Considerable structural remains of the northern
almshouse or poor house still exist, and it is with these
that the present report is mainly concerned. Of the western
building, the other hand, no trace now survives above
ground. Its location can however be established from a
1792 plan of the Westbury College estate (reproduced in
Wilkins 1909, 24-25) which shows part of a substantial
structure, on a northsouth alignment, situated a little to
the east of the surviving 15th century house at 38 Church
Road in an area just within the western boundary of the
churchyard. This western building may be identified
with the “Church House” referred to by Atkyns. “Church
Houses” were common in S.W. England during the period
1450-1650; normally situated on the edge of churchyards
they were erected at the expense of the lay parishioners
and used, rather in the same manner as a modern church
hall, for “church ales” and other social activities intended
primarily to raise funds for church maintenance (Cowley
1970). Prior to the reformation it is unlikely that Westbury
possessed a “Church House” since the upkeep of the church
would have been the responsibility of the College rather
than of the local laity. After 1544, however, it seems
quite possible that all or part of the western almshouse
could have been taken over by the Westbury churchwardens
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as a parochial meeting place before reverting to its original
function as a poor house in the 17th century.

After the completion of the new Westbury Poor
House in 1804 the way lay open for the removal of the two
older buildings adjoining the church. The western building
seems to have been quickly demolished, its site being ab-
sorbed into the churchyard. The northern building, on the
other hand, was merely gutted, its shell being used to con-
tain a row of eight cottages for the use of the poor. These
houses seem to have been completed by 3 March 1806,
when a parish terrier refers to the churchyard being “boun-
ded on the north by certain Tenements belonging to the
parish of Westbury-on-Trym” (Wilkins 1910, xviii). At
the time of the 1841 census the row of cottages, then
known -~ the “Long Entry”, was housing a total of 46
persons. ..ie buildings continued in use until about 1850,
when the site was cleared. In 1853 a Vestry Hall was con-
structed at its western end, probably to the design of John
Norton, who was then supervising the restoration of the
church. The remainder of the site was left as a dumping
ground for church and churchyard rubbish, a huge conical
mound of debris being allowed to build up towards its
eastern end. In February 1905 much of this accumulated
waste material was cleared away (Wilkins 1910, xix);
dumping was however soon resumed and has continued ever
since, being supplemented by substantial deposits of ash
and clinker from a boiler house constructed east of the
Vestry Hall in 1925,

3. 111E Slll_z = .g. 1)

The site of the northern almshouse at Westbury-on-Trym
(ST 57347743) occupies an artificial terrace on the south
side of the narrow valley of the diminutive River Trym,
which at this point cuts through deposits of Triassic keuper
marl and dolomitic conglomerate. The terrace, 40.4 m long
and 6.8 m wide externally, is bounded on the south by the
churchyard and on the north and east by groups of late
18th or early 19th century cottages fronting onto Trym
Road. It is defined by the outer walls of the mid 15th cen-
tury almshouse, which are some 80 c¢m thick and are com-
posed mainly of carboniferous limestone rubble bonded
with reddish-brown mortar with white flecks. Since the
mid 19th century the southern wall, supporting the church-
yard, has been extensively patched and rebuilt, while the
north and east walls have been reduced in height and
capped with stone slabs or cement. Diagonal buttresses of
triassic sandstone protrude from the north east and south
east angles of the structure. The southern end of the east
wall is pierced by a 15th century window recess (des-
cribed in more detail in part 4B below) while indications of
other blocked ' ~ low openings, some of them probably
of post-medieval aate, are to be seen in the north wall.
T :ds the western end of the southern retaining wall,
immediately to the east of the 19th century Vestry Hall
(see below) is a small, plain, rectangular recess, probably
a primary feature. The floor level of the 15th century
building, as established by excavation, was some 5 m below
that of the present churchyard and 2.6 m above that of the
rear courtyards of the Trym Road houses (see fig. 1C).

‘The western end of the almshouse ice is occupied
by the Vestry Hall (now used as a Parish Office) construc-
ted in 1853. This single storey building consists of a meet-
ing room with a fireplace in its N wall, entered from the
south through a passage which also provides access to the
rest of the terrace. The ornamental west facade of the Hall
is constructed of squared blocks of carboniferous limestone
with oolitic limestone mouldings; it has a battlemented
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parapet, a diagonal buttress at the north-western angle
and a three-light window in the Perpendicular style, similar
to those in the aisles of the adjacent church. The hood-
mould above this window is continued southwards to form
a rectangular surround for the two-centred arch over the
entrance; the spandrels of this arch contain shields and
stylized foliage. The east wall of the building, by con-
trast, consists of plain rubble with a segmental arch over
the passage doorway. Against this east wall stands the
brick-built boiler room constructed in 1925, The rest of
the terrace is at present unused and covered by 20th cen-
tury rubbish deposits, now heavily overgrown; these in-
crease in thickness from west to east, reaching a maxi-
mum depth of 1.7 m close to the east wall.

4. THE EXCAVATIONS
4A: AREA 1 (Figs. 2-5)

Work in Area 1 was begun in June 1975 by 'ning a
trench 3 metres square alongside the southern retaining
wall. In 1976 this trench was extended to the north and
west to produce an L-shaped excavation covering some
18 square metres. Work in this exparded area continued
intermittently until September 1978. ...e following des-
cription of the excavation should be read in conjunction
with Plans 1 and 2 (figs. 2 & 3) and Sections 1 - 4 (figs.
4 & 5). In the description a reference to a layer (L) or
feature (F) is normally preceded by an indication of the
plan (P) and/or section (S) on which it appears. Finds are
referred to by the catalogue numbers (prefix SF) assigned
to them in part 6 of the report.

The principal structural feature of the 15th century
almshouse to be located within area 1 was a north-south
wall 80 cm thick, constructed of carboniferous limestone
blocks bonded with reddish-brown mortar with white
flecks, similar to that used in the standing outer walls of
the building (P1,S2,54; F7/7A). The southern end of this
wall had been pierced by an arched doorway approximately
1.10 m wide, of which part of the heavily worn threshold
survived on the western side. The springing for the south
side of this arch, which seems to have been wholly com-
posed of undressed limestone slabs, was preserved in the
retaining wall, indicating a height of 1.85 m from the
threshold to the shoulder of the arch (see S2).

The base of F7/7A was surrounded by thick layers
of red clayey soil derived from the underlying Triassic
keuper marl and representing hillslope material cut away
and then redeposited during the construction of the alms-
house. These were most fully investigated on the east side
of the wall, where a sondage extending to a depth of 3.4
m below the 1975 ground surface revealed five surc~eccive
clay deposits (S4; L17-17D). The lowest course of . ., 7A
had been laid in a foundation trench cut from the top of
L17C and extending into L17D. Above L17C the wall
had been built freestanding, the remaining clay deposits
L17B, 17A and 17 being successively packed against it.
Up to the top of L17B the wall face had a rough appear-
ance, with large gaps between the stones; above this, how-
ever, it was carefully pointed. At the junctions between
layers 17, 17A, 17B and 17C deposits of carboniferous
limestone chinnings v noted, evidently left by masons
working on _ .,7A. L17, 17A and 17B all produced scraps
of human bone, including the greater part of a lower man-
dible from L17B. L17 also contained a number of frag-
ments of dressed freestone, including a section from a
small late 12th century capital similar in style to those
in the nave arcades of the adjacent church (SF21). L17C
contained flecks of charcoal and a number of sherds of
13th to early 15th century pottery (SF1-6). On the west
side of F7/7A a similar sequence of clay deposits can be
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postulated, although only the uppermost of these (S1,
S4; L19) was exposed during the excavation, which with
the exception of a small sondage (see S1) was not con-
tinued below its surface. A fragment from a clay floor tile
“waster’’, probably of 15th century date, was found in
the top of L19 (SF18).

The upper surfaces of both L17 and L19 sloped
markedly downwards from south to north. They were
covered by a group of deposits which also appear to date
from the mid 15th century construction period and seem
to have been introduced to provide a level foundation
for the almshouse floor. On the east side of F7/7A L17
was overlain by a loose tumble of carboniferous limestone
blocks and chippings (S4; L16A), giving way further south
to a series of more compact layers of red clay and small
stones (S3, L12A-C). West of F7/7A L19 was covered by
alternate layers of red clay (S1,54; L13B,18A) and car-
boniferous limestone chippings (S1,54; L18,18B). No
datable objects were recovered from this group of deposits
other than an 18th century sherd (SF7) and some clay pipe
stem fragments from L16A, which in view of the loose
texture of the layer concerned may well have been in-
trusive. the flooring which may be assumed to have origi-
nally sealed these layers was almost certainly composed
of stone slabs. No trace of the floor itself survived, although
part of its bedding is probably represented by a spread of
hard reddish mortar with white flecks directly overlying
L19 to the west of the doorway in F7/7A (P1,S1; L15).

Covering the sequence of deposits just described was
a group of thin, compressed “floor” layers of clay and
charcoal containing artefacts of 18th century date (P1,
S1,83,S4; L12,13A,14,14A,16). Layers 13A and 14, to
the west of F7/7A, were covered by a spread of red clay
and small stones with patches of mortar and charcoal
(S1,S4; L13) which was in turn overlain towards the
western end of the excavated area by an ashy deposit
(L11D) capped by a layer of red clay. (L11C); these de-
posits also produced 18th cer _ material. This group
of layers seems to represent a period late in this history
of the almshouse when its paved floors had for some reason
been removed and occupation debris was for the first
time allowed to accumulate.

Associated with L13A and 14, and overlain by L13,
was an enigmatic complex of mortar and plaster features
(P1,S4; F12-12D). This comprised a atral spread of
greyish mortar with numerous ash and pebble inclusions
(F12) flanked on the west by a similar, more elongated
spread (F12D) and to the north east by a mass of white
plaster (F12C). To the south east of F12 and F12C, adjoin-
ing the western face of F7A, was a further mortar spread
(F12A) defining the impression of a stone block or timber
baulk 50 cm long and 20 cm wide. Overlying the northern
end of F12 were two fragments of pennant sandstone roof-
tile. F12A almost certainly formed a setting for one of the
“shores” described in Foster’s report of 1800 as support-
ing the decayed upper floor of the almshouse. The re-
maining features in this group are more difficult to inter-
pret convincingly, although their general arrangement
suggests the base of an oval oven, opening to the south.
No evidence of burning was noted on the upper surface of
F12; substantial pockets of ash and charcoal were however
present around its periphery, as well as in the associated
layers 13A and 14. Probably contemporary with F12-
12D was an apparent stake-hole, 6 cm in diameter, to the
south of F12A (P1; F9). Finds from this group of layers
and features ir~1nded a worn Irish halfpenny of 1742 rest-
ing on F12C (.. 1), the fragments of an almost complete
late 18th century stoneware mug scattered within L13 to
the south of F12 (SF11) and an inscribed clay pipe bowl
of early 18th century date from L14 (SF20).


















6. THE

Medieval
Ponsford

SF1

SF3

SF4

SF3S

SFeé

VDS FigS. 7&8

Pottery (Incorporating comments by M.W.

Sherd from shoulder of jug, with broad, inter-
mittent concentric groovings externally, Dull
Green external glaze. Grey fabric with pink
inner surface. Ham Green ware (Fabric B). 13th
century, L17C.

Body sherd cooking pot. Reddish brown fabric
with red sandstone and quartz inclusions. Coarser
than Ham Green cooking pot fabric. 13th century.
L17C.

Four joir : sherds from frilled base of jug.
Mottled green external ;~ : Grey fabric with
pink outer surfaces; numerous small dark in-
clusions. Bristol Redcliffe ware. ¢.1300. L17C.
(Fig. 7).

Body sherd from jug. Light green external glaze.
Hard grey fabric with buff inner surface. Bristol
Redcliffe ware. Early 14th century. L17C.

Two body sherds from cups. Dark green external
glaze. Fine white fabric. “Tudor Green” ware.
After ¢.1420, L17C.

Two joining sherds from sharply everted rim of
(7) pancheon. Traces of green glaze on upper
surface. Dark _ y fabric with white limestone
inclusions. Minety ware. 15th century. L17C.
(Fig. 7).

Post-Medieval Pottery (including comments by R.G. Jack-

son)

SF7

SF8

SF9

SF10

SF11

SF12

SF13

Base sherd from (?) p« pot or chamber pot.
Buff fabric blackened externally. Internal white
slip with yellow glaze. 18th century. L16A.
(Fig. 7)

Two ji g sherds from cup. Porcelain, with
underglaze blue decoration below rim. 18th cen-
tury. L13A, below F12, (Fig. 7).

Sherd from plate. Tin glazed earthenware with
pale blue internal decoration. First half of 18th
century. L13A. (Fig. 7),

Sherd from plate. Tin glazed earthenware with
blue internal decoration (leaf motif). First half of
18th century. L13A. (Fig. 7).

Sherd from blue-grey salt glazed stoneware mug.
Moulded and incised decoration with cobalt
blue infill, incorporating medallion with (?G)R
monogram. Westt 1d. 18th century. L13A.
(Fig. 7).

Two joining rim sherds from shallow bowl. Un-
glazed red earthenware. 18th century. L13A.
(Fig. 7)

Rim sherd from handled (?) jug. Red earthenware
with int 1 and external brown glaze. 18th
century. L13. (Fig. 7)

SF14

SF15

SF16

SF17
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Two rim sherds from bowl. Red earthenware with
patchy brown internal glaze. 18th century. L13,
(Fig. 7).

Salt-glazed stoneware mug, largely complete
except for parts of rim and handle. Revenue stamp
GR with crown above. ?Late 18th century. L13,
south of F12. (Fig. 7).

Base sherd from mug. Buff earthenware with in-
ternal and external iron glaze. Mid-late 18th cen-
tury. L11D. (Fig. 7).

Three body sherds from large pancheon. Internal
green-brown glaze. Grey fabric with red outer
surface and large quartz inclusions. North Devon
ware. 18th century. L11, above F7A.

Medieval Floor Tiles

SF18

SF19

Waster fragment, 2.8 cm thick. Red fabric with
a few small red inclusions. Patch of white slip
below clear glaze on upper surface. L19.

Fra nt of tile 11 c¢cm square and 3 cm thick,
cut aagonally. Dark red fabric, slightly over-
fired, with white and buff inclusions. Dark brown
glaze on upper surface. L13.

Clay Pipe (By R.G. Jackson)

SF20

Fragment of spurred bowl with moulded mark
“IG” in circular cartouche on side of bowl. The
form of the bowl is 18th century while the type
of mark is typical of the first half of the 18th
century. L14. (Fig. 8). The bowl form and initials
would tie in with the pipemaker John Grant who
was known to have been working in Wesibury-on-
Trym in the early 18th century. On 6 January
1708 he was granted a licence to marry Jane
Syndry of Westbury. It may have been his son
William who was baptized at Westbury on 13
December 1709. Further children were baptized
in 1712 although it is not known if the father,
John Grant, was in fact the pipemaker. A John
Grant obtained his freedom as a pipemaker in
Bristol in 1736 as he was married to Jane, the
daughter of Samuel Packer, a h« _ 1. Whether
this is the same John Grant who married Jane
Syndry in 1708 is open to doubt.

Worked Stone (Oolitic limestone)

SF21

SF22

SF23

Fragment of capital with cable moulding, ¢° ~ r
in style to those of the late 12th century nave
columns in Westbury Church. Original diameter
c.16 cm. The size of the capital suggests that it
was intended to form part of a small scale decora-
tive feature such as a wall-arcade or sedilia. The
lower surface of the fragment is however cut
across diagonally, suggesting that it may have
been damaged by the mason and discarded before
use. L17. (Fig. 8).

Fragment of roll-moulding. Maximum
6 cm. L17. (Fig. 8).

length

Fragment of (?) tracery with remains of limewash
coating. Maximum length 4.5 cm. L17. (Fig. 8).






Glass

SF24  Neck of a wine bottle, dark green glass. ?Early
18th century. Diameter 3.5 cm. LI3A. (Fig. 8).

~- -5 Base of wine bottle, dark green glass. 18th cen-
tury. Diameter 8.5 cm. L11D. (Fig. 8).

SF26 Neck of pharmaceutical bottle, clear blue-tinted
glass. Diameter 3.5 cm. 18th century. L13, north
edge of F12A. (Fig. 8).

SF27  Base fragment of wine glass with “air-twist” stem,
clear glass. Mid 18th century. L13. (Fig. 8).

SF28  Cylindrical bead of opaque red glass over black
glass core. Length 8 mm, diameter 3 mm. L13A.

SF29  Cylindrical bead of transparent red glass over
white glass core. Length 11 mm, diameter 8 mm.
L8A.

Copper Alloy

SF30 Livery button, with traces of gilding. On front,
crest consisting of right arm in plate armour
clutching spear pointing downwards to the left.
O~ reverse, EXTRA SUPERFINE BEST QUA-

L... in circle surrounding central attachment
loop. Diameter 2.6 cm. Mid 19th century. L7A.
(Fig. 8).
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Coin

SF31 Irish halfpenny, George II. Obv. GEORGIUS II
REX, with bust facing left. Rev. HIBERNIA 1742
with crowned harp. Worn. Diameter 2.7 cm.
L13, resting on F12C.

Jetton

SF32  Nuremburg jetton. Obv. HANS:SCHULTES ...
AN surrounding Reichsapfel in trilobe. Reyv.
HA(NS SC)HULTES:ANC:UN: surrounding three
crowns alternating with three lys. Diameter 2.3
cm. Late 16th century. L8A.

Bone

SF33  Polished rectangular bone plate with bevelled
edges and wedge-shaped projection at one end.
Length 4.7 cm, width 1.6 cm, thickness 1.5 mm.
(For similar object from 18th century context in
Abergavenny see Radcliffe & Knight 1973, 83:4).
L13, between F12 and F12A. (Fig. 8).
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Antiquary 3, Part 3, 65-103.
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Wilkins H.J. 1910 The Poor Book of the Tithings of West-
bury-on-Trym, Stoke Bishop and Shirehampton
from AD 1656-1698.

Wilkins H.J. 1917 Westbury College from 1194 to 1544
AD.

Williams E.E. 1950 The Chantries of William Canynges
in St. Mary Redcliffe, Bristol.
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NOTES !

1. AC/AS 73/3 BRO.

2. D421/T131 GRO, alease of 1630, recites an earlier lease
dating from the second regnal year of James I.

3. D421/T131 GRO shows clearly the right of the lord to
lease coaling rights in the manor. On ms. p. 8 of the Peram-
bulation, see under Colepitt Meadow, ‘... where Samuel
Trewman had a work at ye same time, it being his own
land’. For compensation, see in particular a lease of 1719
relating to Pucklechurch, AC/AS 62/1. I have nowhere
found references to any need to secure the tenant’s agree-
ment to a mine. For details on Astry see the AC/AS cata-

logue, BRO, which has a helpful introduction. The May’s
Hill lease is D421/T131 GRO. Sir John Smyth marriad
Elizabeth Astry, one of Sir Samuel’s daughters whoin _. .8
inherited a one-third share of the manor. See AC/AS BRO,
‘Abstract of Title of Sir John Smyth’. For the extent of the
S lge estates see D421/E64 GRO.

4. Flinn, The History of the British Coal Industry Vol. II,
Oxford 1984.

5. The ‘Custom of the Mannour’ is ms. pp. 30-31, AC/AS
110 BRO.

6. ‘Book of Reference to the Information of Mr John
Bryant ...’, AC/AS 99 BRO.
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WATCHING BRIEFS:

TRINITY STREET, City. (BRSMG : Accs. No. 67/1988;
ST 58417267)

1) A watching brief was undertaken during excavations for
a pipe-trench along Trinity Street to the east of Bristol
Cathedral.

There were no features recorded along the north end of
Trinity Street beneath the Victorian cobble-stones. The
upper natural Keuper Marl was recorded at 1.20 m below
the cobbles sealed beneath a mixed make-up deposit of
grey-black ash, reddish-brown sandy soil, buff mortar
and pens sandstone. The Keuper Marl overlay Dolo-
mitic Conglomerate and Brandon Hill Grit which varied
in depth between 1.50 and 2.00 m. The south extension
of Trinity Street was a pedestrianised way which descended
¢.7.0. m through five sets of steps down to Anchor Road
and was constructed early in this century. Trinity Street
originally continued east towards The Butts (Anchor Road)
and the Floating Harbour. The original Trinity Street
dates back to the early 18th century when the road tc ._.e
Butts was heavily built-up on both sides with Georgian
terraced town houses (Gomme, Jenner and Little, 1979,
103, and Winstone, 1983, 217), and indicated on Plumley
and Ashmead’s map of 1828. The build _ to the south
were destroyed c¢.1925 when a large brick warehouse was
constructed and Trinity Street, at its west end, was joined
to Anchor Road, to the west of the Cathedral School.

The pipe-trench was located 3.30 m to the east of
the school boundary wall. The upper deposits consisted of
c.2.0 m of the 18th-19th century demolition rubble over-
lying natural. However. the remains of at least six walls
on east-west alignments ‘e cut by the trench, They in-
cluded part of the frontage of the west end of the Georgian
terrace on the south side of Trinity Street. An entrance,
1.0 m wide, opened on to six ascending steps leading to a
cellar. Later walls further south probably represent the
Drill Hall associated with the Engineer Volunteers Head-
quarters described in Wright and Co’s Bristol and Clifton
Directory for 1885 and also shown on the O.S. map of
1885. The 18th-century frontage walls and entrance were
1.20 m below Trinity Street pavement level at ¢.15.06 m
oD.

The finds were unstratified, but included animal
bone, oyster shell, clay pipes and a complete 18th century
glass p. = Medieval pottery sherds of Ham Green and
Redclifte ware and Redcliffe roof-tile were also found.

(Eric Boore)

2) BRISTOL CATHEDRAL, City. (ST 58417269)
A trial trench was excavated on behalf of Sir Robert
McAlpine Management Contractors Limited along the
external east face of the Eastern Lady Chapel of Bristol
Cathedral to examine the foundations. The work was
recorded by E.J. Boore and B. Williams and the site visited
by Dr. W. Rodwell, Consultant Archaeologist for the
Cathedral.

The trench extended north from the south buttress
for 2.70 m | was 0.80m wide. A second trench, 1.20 m
wide, was excavated along the north face of the south
buttress for 2.35 m to the east. The area between the
eastern Lady Chapel east wall and the north and south
buttresses was enclosed by a modern boundary wall. The
ground level was covered with flagstones of Pennant Sand-
stone. They were bedded in a pale brown mortar which
overlay a make-up deposit of black mortar and black ashy
soil to a depth of 0.35 m. This deposit overlay the upper
natural of dark red sandy clay which continued to the
Brandon Hill Grit bedrock.

The foundations below the Lady Chapel east wall
and the south buttress were both constructed of roughly-
dressed blocks of Brandon Hill Grit with some Pennant
Sandstone. The upper courses below the Lady Chapel
plinth course were particularly massive and offset c.0.14 m
to the east and a further offset for a depth of 2.37 m. The
buttress foundations were offset 0.40 m to the north and
were recorded for a depth of 2.50 m. Both foundations
were bonded with a reddish-orange sandy mortar and
were of a single phase construction. They were contem-
porary with the early 14th century Eastern Lady Chapel
constructed as part of the rebuilding work at St. Augus-
tine’s Abbey undertaken by Abbot Knowle (d 1332).
There were no finds apart from a single human femur.

(Eric Boore, Bruce Williams)

ST. AUGUSTINE THE LESS, Deanery Road, C

(BRSMG : Accs. No. 25/1983:ST. 58497273)

1) A watching-brief was :d out on the site of the
former church of St. Augustine the Less (Boore, 1986).

The remaining foundations of the church were removed
and the whole site reduced by ¢.3.0 m to 13.50 OD reveal-
ing the Keuper Marl and Dolomitic Conglowr te natural.
A pentagonal septic tank, 3 m x 2 m, was found near
the south-east corner of the church and was contemporary
with the Victorian vestry. Further rectangular (c.6) and
coffinshaped (c.2) brick-lined grave shafts were recorded
in the south-west and north-east corners of the churchyard
along with other brick walls suggesting more on the north
side. These are all dated to the 18th and 19th cent s.
The depth of soil in the churchyard to the south, although
dis yed, was 2.10 m to natural. This area contained some
disarticulated human remains.

A substantial right-angled revetment wall was recor-
ded in the south-east corner of the site. The wall was con-
structed of Pennant Sandstone and Brandon Hill Grit
bonded in a hard reddish-brown mortar. It survived for a
height of 2.60 m and was stepped twice with projecting
off-set foundations on its north and " . faces. It probably
e s a combined revetment for the natural cliff edge
to the south-east and foundations for domestic buildings
of the 18th century. Behind the late 19th century south
churchyard wall were found the stubs of three walls aligned
north-south. They are the truncated remains of 18th-
and 19thcentury property boundaries from the early
18th<century terrace which fronted Trinity Street, on the
south. The only find an unstratified fragment of
Norwegian schist whetstone.

(Eric Boore)

2) An intact lead coffin was found by the developer Sir
Robert McAlpine Management Contractors Limited on the
site of the church. Prior to reinterment at South Bristol
Cemetery, the coffin and its location were recorded.

The coffin was discovered during demolition of the
eastern boundary wall of the churchyard. It appeared to lie,
head to the west, in an earth-cut grave as there were no
indications of either a vault or brick-lined shaft structure.
The depth at which the coffin was found was over 1.0 m
into natural. This suggests that it was not in situ, allowing
for a further ¢.2.0. m of accumulated churchyard soil
above the bedrock. The coffin may have been found after
the grave clearance in 1892 had been completed when
the south-east corner of the churchyard was removed to
make way for Anchor Road to the south and east. It might
then have been reburied when the latest eastern boundary
wall was constructed.

The coffin measured 2.04 x 0.66 x 0.45 m and en-



closed an intact wooden coffin which appeared to be made
of elm, exposed when the upper half of the lead lid was
accidentally removed on discovery during machining
operations. The outer lead coffin was decorated by sub-
division into panels, three on each side, and 2/3 on the lid.
The internal raised borders of each panel contained a simple
scroll moulding. A single lozenge-shaped grip-plate with an
iron bail grip had survived fixed to the upper side panel of
the lead coffin. Two fixing holes, centrally positioned and
spaced 0.12 m apart, were recorded in the other side panels
and also on each end. The detached and damaged lid
contained a lead shield breast-plate which measured 0.28
x 0.38 m. The breast-plate contained in relief, in capital
letters the epitaph T.T. with the date 1818 below. This
double-shell burial is similar to others found at the Bar-
nardiston vaults at Kedington church, Suffolk (W.H.B.,
1916, 4447, and Litten, 1985).

The Register of Burials for the parish of St. Augustine
the Less for 1813-1826 have an entry for a Thomas Thirkall
from Bitton who was buried in 1818, the ceremony per-
formed by the incumbent, Dr. Luke Heslop (Bristol Record
Office, P/St.Aug/R/2(c)). The tr=4= directories before
and including the year 1818 list a ...omas Thirkill, Plum-
ber and Water closet maker, at 26 College Street in St.
Augustine’s parish (Mathew’s Directory, 1818, 145). In
1819 the business is listed as Thirkill and Pomeroy at the
same address and whom continue to trade until 1823.
In that year a J.M.W. Thirkill is listed as a plumber at
Limekiln Dock while G. Pomeroy continues alone at
College Street, J.M.W. Thirkill was presumably the son of
Thomas and he may well have made the coffin.

The manufacture of lead coffins was carried out by
plumt and probably provided a considerable income
particularly in the 18th and early 19th centuries when
vault and brick-lined shaft burials were at their most
pop ~ (Litten, op.cit.). It would therefore seem only
fitting tor someone who had doubtless produced many
lead coffins, both for double and triple-shell burials, pro-
bably for interment at St. Augustine the I | intramural
or churchyard, for himself to be laid to rest in a manner
with which he was only too familiar. It may also explain
the lack of an outer wooden shell, the decorative elements
of the lead coffin and the associated coffin-furniture.
This may represent more an expression of pride in their
workmanship than advertising to the last!

(Eric Boore, John Bryant)

3) DEANERY ROAD, Bristol. (ST 58467274)

The remains of two inhumations were recorded in a trench
excavated by the Water Board in Deanery Road, College
Green. The trench measured 1.50 x 0.75 x 0.60 m and was
located 4.40 m to the west of the north-east corner of
the Royal Hotel.

The disarticulated remains consisted of 2 skulls and
other disturbed bones. They were sealed by the modern
make-up for the road and were in a layer of dark red sand
and Keuper Marl representing redeposited natural. There
was no dating evidence for the skeletal remains which
would have come from the former churchyard of St.
Augustine the Less.

The western churchyard was destroyed in the early
18th century when the Georgian terrace was constructed
and again in 1868 when the east end of the terrace was
replaced by the present Royal Hotel buildings. The north
and western extent of the churchyard was further reduced
in 1894 as a result of road widening at the east end of
College Green (E.J. Boore, 1985).

(Eric Boore)
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ST. NICHOLAS CHURCH (ST 5894 7294) ,
Partial re-flooring of the lower church in the course of
carrying out damp-reduction works, resulted in the dis-
covery of six 18th- or 19th-century brick burial chambers,
plus portions of gravestones. A number of medieval and
later features were recorded in the east end of the south
wall. Recording continued alongside restoration work.
The north, south and east walls were drawn following the
removal of modern rendering. A complex series of open-
ings at the east end of the south wall included evidence
of a former extension, perhaps a side chapel.

(John Bryant)

BITTON, Avon. (BRSMG : 6820 6933)

A survey of the Creswicke family vault in St. Mary’s
church, Bitton, was conducted as part of the faculty
granted to the parochial church council to repair the floor
of the aisle.

The vault entrance was discovered below the central
aisle 13.25 m to the west of the chancel arch. Investiga-
tion of an uneven floor had led to its discovery and a survey
was undertaken prior to repairing the floor and sealing the
vault. The survey was carried out with the kind permission
of the incumbent, Canon G. Mitchell, and the helpful
assistance of the churchwardens, Mr. C. Richards and Mr.
J. Bennett. The vault was initially identified from two
Creswicke family ledger stones to the east of the vault
entrance and a wall tablet on the south nave wall.

The vault entrance was capped with large slabs of
Pennant Sandstone, 0.40 m below the present-day church
floor. The entrance contained 5 steps made of Pennant
Sandstone, 1.08 x 0.30 m, between walls of white lias.
The steps descended 1.20 = and led into the north-west
corner of the burial vault. __ey stopped at a height of
0.55 m above the vault floor while the entrance roof
projected into the barrel-vaulted roof in an arch construc-
ted with ashlar oolitic limestone. The rectangular vault,
aligned north-south, measured 4.15 x 2.50 x 1.84 m and
both walls and roof w constructed of white and blue
lias with some oolite. ™" fl was covered with Pennant
Sandstone flagstones.

An extended adult burial with head to the west
and partly covered with decayed wooden coffin remains,
was found against the north wall near the entrance. The
whole of the vault floor was covered with a granular deposit
of decayed wooden coffin. South of the entrance an adult
lead coffin lay on its side. The lid was decorated with a
diaper pattern. Four more adult lead coffins occupied
the southern half of the vault with their heads to the west.
Three coffins lay on the vault floor, the middle coffin
partly on its side, while the fourth lay askew on top of
the others. This coffin was also decorated with diaper
pati on one of its upper sides. The positions of the lead
coffins suggest that they had originally been stacked and
had subsequently collapsed northwards. All the lead
coffins were intact except one which had burst at a corner
from the weight of the one above and perhaps as a result
of tha etqck collapsing.

e four coffins were surrounded by the remains
of their outer wooden shells. These interments were ori-
ginally triple-shell burials, that is ‘lead-lapped, inner
wooden shell with an outer wooden case.” The outer cases
were originally covered with velvet, probably red in colour,
which was attached by the use of upholstery pins and the
associated coffin-furniture consisting of grips and grip-
plates. The coffins were surrounded by pins, decorated
grips and grip-plates, one of which was gilded. The remains
of the lid of one outer case had partially survived in situ
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and still contained upholstery pins and fragments of vel-
vet. Four breast-plates were recorded, one possibly in
situ. The breast-plates all contained inscriptions for mem-
bers of the Creswicke family. The earliest was dated to
1799 and the latest to 1834.

In the south-east corner of the vault there was a care-
fully stacked charnel group containing many long bones
from adult skeletons and including at least six skulls. The
charnel probably consists of the earliest burials, from
single shell wooden coffins placed into the vault, which
were displaced to make way for the tripleshell burials.
The ¢ 1el may represent the remains of the Creswic
mentioned on the ledger stones near the vault entrance
including Francis Creswicke (d 1732).

The Creswicke vault was recorded with a minimum amount
of disturbance to the burials and nothing was removed
from the vault.

(Eric Boore)

SURVEYS OF BUILDINGS

THE STAG AND HOUNDS, Old Market Street
(ST 5960 7311)
Recording took place before and during renovation of
the public house. Various 17th-century features were re-
corded. Part of the cellar was found to be medieval.

(John Bryant)

67 ST. MICHAEL’S HILL (ST 5842 7343)
This 18th century house recorded in brief.
(John Bryant)

37 GROVE ROAD, Coombe Dingle (ST 5556 7756)
Prior to demolition, this 19th-century cottage was recor-
ded.

(John Bryant)

GI HOUND HOTEL Broadmead. (ST 5911 7330)
Rear extensions of the 19th century were briefly recorded

prior to demolition.
(John Bryant)

24 and 25 BROAD ......... .. 5877 7311)
A two-storey medieval building was recorded at no. 24
during extensive renovation. Part of a contemporary roof
survived. A later chimney breast contained two 17th-
century fireplaces. At no. 25, a second structure, possibly
a first-floor hall, was partly recorded. A 15th-century
three-light window survived.

(John Bryant)
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LOOKING FO™ HISTORY IN THE MUD
Ken Stuckey

(Additional notes by Jane Evans, Woodspring Museum)

The possibility of the Severn Barrage scheme coming into
being has brought f ard a lot of research on what would
happen to the mudflats on both sides of the Bristol Chan-
nel, which would probably become covered by a much
heavier deposit of mud than at present and so hide evidence
of the fishing which has taken olace for many hundreds
of years. In addition the r variation in the tidal
regime with spring low tides not reaching as low as now,
will mean that accessibility to the foreshore will be much
more limited.

My interests lie along the coastline at Kingston
Seymour and two years ago I received a query about fish-
ing stakes which might be out on the mudflats here. Appar-
ently someone walking on the flats at low tide at Burnham
had found a row of stakes just protruding above the mud
and had made enquiries to Jane Evans, Curator at Wood-
spring Museum. This had prompted her to ask me if there
were any at Kingston.

Wz 1g out on the mud here is not my idea of a
bit of fun and I have never ventured out very far from the
coastline, so with a friend who had previously done some
fishing, we went out to have a look. As we walked out we
noticed a lot of stakes 'n in to hold up or perhaps I
should say, peg down trammel nets. These would have
been used in recent years. Others not so high were square
timbers with a hole at the top. The condition of the wood,
identified as Spruce by G.C. Morgan, again suggested a
recent date. The stakes that we were looking for. lav fur-
ther out from the coastline which a hundred or m years
ago had extended much further out and in recent years had
been fast eroded by the sea.

Moving further out we came upon several long lines
of stakes standing out of the mud about half a metre in
height and about 5 m apart. Formerly there would have
been taller stakes to hold up the tops of trammel or hang
nets. The nets would also have been s¢ d at the bottom
to the existing stakes.

The longest run of stakes that we noticed was about
70 m in length and placed at an angle to trap the fish as
the tide was running out (Fig.1.1). These nets would have
been used by professional fishermen and the fish caught
would have included codling, mullet, plaice etc.

Close by we came upon a very unusual structure.
It was in the shape of a letter U, 2.5 m in length and 1.5 m
between the two points (Fig. 1.2). It was made up of short
stakes the thickness of a broom handle protruding about
0.15 m out of the mud and the same distance apart. They
were interwoven with withy of the type used for basket
making. One difference to the ot traps was that the
open end faced towards the sea. There did not seem to be
any more s ~ ; associated with it and its purpose was a
mystery.

Further visits w made to the site with Jane Evans
and Alec Coles of the Woodspring Museum and the follow-
ing summer with Rob Iles and Richard McDonnel.

During these visits we came upon more interesting
finds. These were even further from the coastline, and con-
sisted of smaller and shorter stakes, but in the same forma-
tion and set at the same angle as the larger ones, and
generally not more than 20 cm high (fig 1.3). In the middle
of the two lines of stakes were more set in the mud in
various positions and lying between t n were broken

pieces of woven withies about the size of basket work.
There must have been small mesh nets on 1 stakes to
funnel the fish in but there are none in view. Lying near-
by on the mud beside two of the traps are two much more
complete woven objects. They look like a human being
as sketched by a child and most likely were part of the
traps.

I feel sure that they were the sort of traps used to
catch sprats or shrimps but more likely sprats for they
would be a more practical buy for the large family of the
last century.

I do know that a fisherman called Stuckey worked
there for many years and was listed as such in the 1871
census. Old people could recall him driving through Yatton
with his horse and cart loaded up with his scales and a
quantity of sprats which he would be selling at a penny or
two a pound. There would have been a good demand for
fish in the inland villages of Yatton, Congresbury and
Wrington.

Two attempts were made to catch fish here ¢ g
this century, one in the twenties and the other before
World War II but neither effort lasted very long. These
fishermen had all lived at some time in a nearby cottage
which was built in 1780, this could have been intended
for fishermen or may have been a herdsman’s cottage.

This brings me to an interesting part of my research,
for a few years ago 1 was looking through some old deeds
of property in the area and I found a Bill of Sale dated
1801. Lot 3 was a meadow called The Withey Bed Close,
2% acres fig 1.4). No doubt withies had been grown there
at a much earlier date to supply fishermen on both sides
of the Bristol Channel for there were strong connections
with South Wales. Lot 4 was a cottage and garden (fig
1.5). This was nearby. Lot 8 wac = cottage and garden,
with a small withy bed (fig. 1.6). ...is was built in 1780
and lived in by the fishermen mentioned. Lot 9 were
Manorial rights to one third of the Manor of Kingston
Seymour with fishing rights and also a fishery.

This requires more research and could reveal some interest-
ing information.

+ Yo CHORE FISHING IN ... SEVERN
ESTUARY
(A note by Jane Evans)

Research into evidence for fishing in this part of the Severn
Estuary has been neglected and Ken Stuckey’s initiative
in this difficult area is welcomed.

Recent studies have given a good deal of attention
to fish-weirs in rivers, including the River Severn (Pannett
1981 and 1987-8) where they were normally made of
stakes and wattling with basket work traps in their funnels.
Important in medieval times, their use dwindled in the face
of increasing river transport and as fishing laws for salmon
became more strict.

Coastal fish weirs described by F.M. Davis (1958)
as very mon built of stone and stakes or hedging
and ‘each one being anything up to 400 yards in length’
would obviously be very suitable in the Severn Estuary
with its great rise and fall of tide. Jenkins (1974) cites
many examples off the Welsh coast, particularly in Swansea
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Bay. The nets and traps of various sorts fastened to stakes,
called ‘fixed engines’, were set by fishermen on foot on the
shore at low tide. and the fish brought to them by the tide.
A very long wattled fish weir is still in use up river from
the Severn Bridge (pers comm C.R. Salisbury).

Off the West Somerset coast, numerous tidal fish
weirs, consisting of two lengths of boulder walling converg-
ing at a right-angle on the seaward side have been plotted
from air photographs (McDonnell 1980).

At the Birnbeck fishery in Weston Bay, known from
as early as 1492, there were 198 fishing stalls in 1882,
with only a handful still in use today. A ‘stall’ was the
name given to the pair of stakes supporting the ‘stow net’
with its mouth 3% to 5%m square and a bag nearly 10m
long; a row of stow nets was called a ‘hang’, hence the
nets are also called ‘hang-nets’. W. Baker wrote in 1851

By the middle of the nineteenth century the sprat

had become the most valuable fishery on the

Somerset coast. As much as a ton of sprats was

known to have been retailed in Taunton market

in one day, and from information collected with
great care, I learn that the sprat fishery from the
west end of the Gore Sand in Bridgwater Bay to

Weston-super-Mare will produce in a good season

(Oct - March) more than £10,000 at the retail prices.

Sprats strung and suspended in lines from the kitchen

ceilings are to be seen in the cottages for months

after the season is over. The sprat and herring fishery
of Weston-super-Mare supported great numbers
of the poor in the time of its greatest activity.

The stow net fishery began to decline when swing
nets were introduced about 1880. Nowadays, trammel
fishing from small boats is also operated.

Wall or stake nets, called ‘kettle nets’ in some areas
were also frequent on Weston’s mud-flats west of Knight-
stone in the first half of the 19th century. [n these a semi-
circular row of stakes was driven into the mud with the
convexity of the row f ° 3z seawards. Matthews (1934)
describing these, wrote

A somewhat similar contrivance, consisting of a V-
shaped wall of wire netting supported on stakes, is
used by the Gloucester pilots on the mud flats near
their moorings at Portishead, to catch flounders
and other flatfish for their own use. Collinson says
that in 1791 flatfish and shrimps were caught on
the shore at Portishead, evidently in some similar
gear. Similar fish weirs have been used at New Passage
and in Woodspring Bay.

Apart from ‘Wessun sprats’, shrimps used to be
a great speciality of the area. Shrimp nets were similar in
shape to stow nets but the tail end had an extra piece of
net forming a funnel and the tail was fastened to a third
stake, to hold it clear of the ground. Shrimps are still
caught in these nets at Birnbeck. A shrimp fishery at St
Thomas’ Head was in use in 1934, worked by a fisherman
who used the Middle Hope stow net fishery for sprats.
He boiled up the shrimps in the small building whose ruins
can be seen at ST 336 664.

Matthews goes on to say that

A few shrimp nets are worked occasionally on the

mud flats between Woodspring Bay and Clevedon,

but the softness of the mud makes access to them
very difficult. The fishery here appears to have been
more extensive in former times. During the Great

War a Clevedon fisherman worked a shrimp fishery

on these mud flats. Orthodox shrimp nets were not

used, but a kind of fish weir was constructed of
stakes with fine meshed wire netting fixed to them.

Large quantities of shrimps and flatfish were taken.

To carry the catch from the nets in Woodspring Bay,
a mud sled was used, made by Alf Payne and now on dis-
play in Woodspring Museum. This is a simpler version than
the ‘mud-horses’ used by the fishermen to skim over the
mud of Bridgwater Bay, as described by Brown (1980).
Mud sleds were also used in Cardiff Bay (Matheson 1929).

Fishing, once so rich, has undoubtedly been ¢ d
out all along the coast of Avon from prehistoric times
onwards and especially in Medieval times. A problem to
consider further is whether any of the evidence so far
noted in the field could be of medieval or earlier date.
Finds off the coast of G 1t (pers comm Deryk Upton)
certainly seem to include the earlier evidence on the other
side of the Estuary.

Research is hampered as the history of the coastline
and seawall is not yet fully understood, nor is the nature
of mud deposition in the Severn Estuary. Seasonal varia-
tions, as winter storms clear mud which then returns in the
summer, makes 21 " 7 feld work difficult.

More documentary research and an exchange of
information with the Severn Estuary Levels Research
Group may provide some answers as to date.

As for the loss of the fish, the problem here is one
for environmentalists, and for archaeologists of the future.
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vironment. His only tie with home was the magnitude of
the Gaulish earthworks there, which on the surface did not
differ greatly from those he knew and understood so well
just across the Channel.

Born at Camerton, Somerset, in 1904, William James
Wedlake made himself into an archaeologist and historian,
for family circumstances resulting from the First World War
forced him to leave school at the age of thirteen to work on
Camerton Farm. However, this change was to stand him in
good stead. Camerton was an archaeological site of the
greatest local importance, preserving as it did traces of pre-
history and early Christian occupation spanning more than
three millennia. From 1926, on and off for thirty
years, Wedlake was to devote his skills as excavator, histor-
ian, organiser and inspiring leader to its gradual uncc 3
and interpretation: and to a major publication of what he
and the Camerton Excavation Club had found in 1958.

Noi~ if not a great and generous raconteur, Bill
was the mnrst to relate his indebtedness to a handful of
established Somerset antiquaries of note who had spotted
the outstanding promise of this country lad. Possibly the
most important of these was Father (Abbot) Ethelbert
Horne 0.S.B., of Downside Abbey, who became his life-
long friend. With him, too, was Dr Arthur Bulleid, discover-
er and excavator of the so-called Somerset Lake V' ses;
and Harold St. George Gray (who had learned his archae-
ological craft from General Pitt-Rivers). And, not least,
W.E.V. Young, with background not unlike Wedlake’s, who
was for Alexander Kieller at Avebury what Bill Wedlake
became for Wheeler. All these prescient people encouraged
Bill, taught him, gave him confidence and the start in
archaeological life which his spirit craved. Through Abbot
Horne and Dr Bulleid he joined the excavators at Glaston-
bury Abbey. He helped Horne at the beginning of work at
Camerton, where the Saxon cemetery was uncovered. Then
to Meare Lake Village with Bulleid and numerous Somerset
sites with St. George Gray. It was but a step - a word from
one of these influential people - and Wedlake had been
introduced to Wheeler and made his foreman for the
lengthy work about to begin at Maiden Castle.

The published facts of that epogue-making research
excavation 1 b available since 1943. What is less well-
known, what came from Wedlake himself over a glass or
two of an evening, was his account of the work he and the
labourers used to do at Maiden Castle after each summer
season had finished: work during which Bill sought regular
direction from the London-based _ it man via a public

telephone in the Antelope Hotel at Dorche
stayed.

After the war, despite his full-time career in the
Admiralty at Bath, work begun in 1940 and ending with
his retirement in 1972, Wedlake pursued his archaeological

earch in and around his beloved Camerton with undim-
inished zeal and increasingly valuable results. He .founded
the Camerton Excavation Club in 1947, partly as a means
of furthering and publishing the results of excavation and
fieldwork in north-east Somerset. Of more than forty
excavations in which he took part or directed, perhaps the
most significant was to be his last majo1 lertaking, total
excavation of a Roman-British shrine of the greatest inter-
est at Nettleton Shrub, near Castle Combe, n 1 of Bath.
Subject of a major monograph published by the Society of
Antiquaries, it stands as a monument to the happy com-
bination of amateur and professional in archaeology,
through which Bill worked. )

Wedlake was responsible for more than fieldwork in
his chosen interest. Quite early in life he had come upon
the notes and diaries of a more remote Somerset antiquary,
the Reverend John Skinner (1800-1837), Rector of Camer-
ton. Hidden away in the British Museum library, these well-
illustrated joi  is contained a wealth of information about
the historic remains of the Camerton region and elsewhere
in Son  et, which Wedlake n ™" ed were a unique record
of much that had long since vanisned. He devoted time and
painstaking care to deciphering and transcribing Sk r’s
manuscripts and it is to the great regret of all who know of
this work that it has never been published.

When the County of Avon was formed during local-
government reorganisation in 1973, some of us, including
Bill Wedlake, saw to the establishment of an Avon Archae-
ological Council, which could speak with authority on the
important ancient heritage within the newly-drawn county.
Wedlake was chosen as its obvious first chairman. For this,
and for a lifetime dedicated to the unearthing and docu-
menting of what happened a very long time ago, Wedlake
was awarded by Bristol University the degree of Master of
Arts honoris causa in 1986, a form of scholarly recognition
that gave him great delight.

Shortly before his death Bill Wedlake was received
into the Roman Catholic Church. Following Catholic
practice, when he was confirmed he took the name of
Ethelbert, in memory of his great friend and mentor during
youth, Father Ethelbert Horne. He never married.

Nicholas Thomas

, where Bill
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